IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 96,010

JAMES C. BABER, III,

Petitioner,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

On Discretionary Review of a Final Judgment and Certified Question of Great Public Importance from the Fourth District Court of Appeal

> BRUCE ROGOW BEVERLY A. POHL BRUCE S. ROGOW, P.A. Broward Financial Centre 500 East Broward Blvd., Ste. 1930 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33394 (954) 767-8909

Counsel for James C. Baber III

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The court below affirmed James Baber's convictions for DUI manslaughter and DUI personal injury, but certified this question as one of great public importance:

Does <u>Love v. Garcia</u>, 634 So. 2d 158 (Fla. 1994), apply in criminal prosecutions where blood alcohol test results are offered as proof to establish an element of the offense, if the blood alcohol tests were administered by hospital personnel for medical treatment purposes?

<u>Baber v. State</u>, ____ So. 2d ____, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1478 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) (footnote omitted) (**Appendix A-2**). <u>Love v. Garcia</u> held, in a civil case, that a hospital record of a blood alcohol test report was admissible as a business record kept in the ordinary course of hospital business.¹

Section 90.803(6), Fla. Stat., the business record exception to the hearsay rule, provides in relevant part:

⁽⁶⁾ RECORDS OF REGULARLY CONDUCTED BUSINESS ACTIVITY –

⁽a) A memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, in any form, of acts, events, conditions, opinion or diagnosis, made at or near the time by, or from information transmitted by, a person with knowledge, if kept in the course of a regularly conducted business activity and if it was the regular practice of that business activity to make such memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, all as shown by the testimony of the custodian or other qualified witness, unless the sources of information or other circumstances show lack of trustworthiness. The term "business" as used in this paragraph includes a business, institution, association

The hospital business record of the blood alcohol test, showing 274 mg/dl, was the heart of the State's case, which required proof of blood alcohol in excess of .20 g/dl.² The trial court, addressing defense counsel's objection to its admission, agreed that the record was "crucial," and said: "If you are correct, and I don't admit the report, the case is over." R7-585.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In November 1995, Baber was driving in Palm Beach County around 7:45 p.m. He was heading north, and then turned left (west) onto a major east-west street, which was divided by a median. His turn took him into the eastbound lanes to the left of the median, where he collided, head on, with an eastbound car. The driver of that car was killed, and the passenger injured. R6-438- 439, 445, 465, 477-478, 493, 507; R9-780-781. While Baber was driving north, a couple had observed his car briefly go on the grass median of that road. R11-441, 464.

Baber was seriously injured in the accident and was attended by a police

profession, occupation, and calling of every kind, whether or not conducted for profit. (emphasis supplied).

Blood alcohol results may be reported either in terms of "mg/dl," which is milligrams of alcohol per deciliter of the substance tested (whole blood or serum), or a "g/dl," which is grams per deciliter. ("dl" is an abbreviation for deciliter, which is 100 milliliters). Thus, 274 mg/dl is equivalent to .274 g/dl.

officer who spoke to Baber while he was still in his car. She smelled no alcohol on his breath (R7-513, 527), but a paramedic who came to Baber's aid did smell alcohol. R7-539-540. The police officer testified that Baber had identified himself and said he was "coming from the bar;" the paramedic asked Baber if he had been drinking, to which Baber replied "two beers." R7-509, 513, 526-527, 539-540.

Baber arrived at the St. Mary's Hospital emergency room at 8:45 p.m. R9-884. A blood sample was drawn by emergency room personnel and tested that evening by a laboratory technician, using an instrument called a DuPont ACA-IV. The instrument analyzes blood serum, not whole blood. R7-616; R8-644. The instrument provides a printout of the serum alcohol content of the analyzed blood, and that printout displays "error codes" if recognizable errors occur in the testing procedure. R7-654; R8-654, 724, 743-744.

The hospital record admitted in this case was not the instrument printout. It could not be located. R1-230, 232; R7-610; R8-724-725; R10-980-981, 997. Instead, the State's business record was a computer-generated "Cumulative Trend Report."

- Q. Now that record is not the printout that comes from the machine that tests the blood, does it? [sic]
- A. [Hospital Laboratory Supervisor GEORGE CALASH]: Correct

* * *

Q. But that record is what somebody typed into a computer, not what the machine said necessarily, correct?

A. Right

R7-609-610.

The Cumulative Trend Report business record (State's Exhibit 8A) is attached as **Appendix B** to this Brief. Baber's blood serum alcohol was reported to be 274 mg/dl. Converted, that figure represented a whole blood alcohol level range of .232 to .251 g/dl. R8-705.

The jurors deliberated for eight hours over two days. During that time they sent a note asking for "a definition of DUI" and "a copy of what the State had to prove," and sent another note saying they could not reach a unanimous verdict. R12-1198, 1199. Ultimately they returned a verdict of guilty of DUI manslaughter and DUI with personal injury. R1-24.

Post-trial, Baber's counsel sought to interview the jurors, attaching copies of approximately 75 local newspaper articles, some of which reported Baber's prior DUI arrests, and a transcript and videotape of a newscaster's broadcast relating her interview with two jurors. Referring to those jurors, the reporter said: "they both told me that most of the jury knew nothing about Baber's previous DUI arrests" R3-399; R3-304-383; 396-399. The trial court denied the defense requests to interview the jurors. R3-393, 401.

On appeal, Baber raised the jury interview issue, but the district court of appeal decision focused solely on the admissibility of the hospital record. Finding it to be admissible as a business record hearsay exception under § 90.803(6)(a), Florida Statutes, the district court affirmed Baber's conviction, and certified the question giving rise to this Court's "jurisdiction over all issues" in this case. Feller v. State, 637 So. 2d 911, 914 (Fla. 1994) (citing Jacobson v. State, 476 So. 2d 1282 (Fla. 1985); Savoie v. State, 422 So. 2d 308 (Fla. 1982)); see Article V, § 3(b)(4), Fla. Const.

James Baber was sentenced to 15 years imprisonment (R3-508) and has been incarcerated since his October 10, 1997 conviction. He seeks reversal and a new trial.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The certified question of great public importance is:

I. Does <u>Love v. Garcia</u>, 634 So. 2d 158 (Fla. 1994), apply in criminal prosecutions where blood alcohol test results are offered as proof to establish an element of the offense, if the blood alcohol tests were administered by hospital personnel for medical treatment purposes?

If the answer to the certified question is "yes," the following issues are presented:

- II. Under the business record statute, § 90.803(6)(a), Fla. Stat., where the laboratory instrument printout of the blood alcohol test was not available as required by law, (1) is the hospital business record report of the test *per se* untrustworthy and thus inadmissible, or (2) is the business record inadmissible because without the printout, the sampled blood, or the technician, it was impossible for the opponent of the record to rebut its statutory presumption of trustworthiness?
- III. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in excluding the technician's personnel record, which demonstrated a recent history of laboratory error?
- IV. Should a jury interview have been granted, where a postverdict newscast reported that "most of the jury knew nothing" of inadmissible, prejudicial information about Baber's arrest record?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Love v. Garcia, 634 So. 2d 158 (Fla. 1994), a civil case which held that medical blood alcohol test reports are admissible as business records under § 90.803(6), Fla. Stat., may apply in criminal prosecutions where blood alcohol tests are offered as proof of an element of the offense, but only if the Court recedes from State v. Strong, 504 So. 2d 758 (Fla. 1987). Strong provides the appropriate predicate for the admission of medical blood alcohol test results in a criminal case: (1) test reliability, (2) test meaning, and (3) technician's qualifications. But if Love does apply to criminal prosecutions, it does not justify admissibility of the hospital business record in this case, because the laboratory instrument printout leading to the business record of the test result was not maintained as required by law, and Baber had no meaningful opportunity to show the business record's lack of trustworthiness.

The business record introduced in this case was a hospital computer report purporting to represent the result of a blood alcohol test. (**Appendix B**). The original test result was contained on a printout generated by the testing instrument. Pursuant to Title 59, Florida Administrative Code, in order "to assure that accurate test results are reported," the "[r]ecords of patient testing, including, if applicable, instrument printouts, must be maintained for two years." Section 59A-7.028(4), Fla. Admin. Code. But the instrument printout was not maintained in this case. Since the State demands that an

instrument printout be retained to assure accuracy of medical laboratory reports, a hospital business record whose admissibility is challenged cannot be presumed trustworthy in the absence of the printout. Nor was there a blood sample available for duplicate testing. And, the technician who performed the test was unavailable. Thus, the business record should not have been admitted because (1) the unavailability of the legally required instrument printout rendered the business record untrustworthy *per se*, or (2) the impossibility of showing untrustworthiness without the printout or the blood or the technician turned the business record presumption of trustworthiness into an irrebuttable presumption of trustworthy proof of the essential element of the crime, in violation of due process of law.

2. If the hospital business record of the blood alcohol test was admissible, then a new trial is still required because the trial court refused to admit the technician's hospital personnel record. The personnel record showed that the technician who performed the laboratory test, and who presumably entered the result into the computer, had made a drug screen testing error ten weeks before testing Baber's blood, and had been warned that "repeated incidents will result in . . . firm disciplinary measures. . . ." R7-630-631. That evidence was relevant to the credibility of her work and the business record, and should have been admitted. The jurors deliberated for eight hours and at one point announced they were unable to reach a unanimous verdict. Given their difficulty,

the exclusion of this evidence – relevant to the reliability of the laboratory test and data entry performed by the technician – was not harmless.

3. If a new trial is not granted, then a jury interview is required. The trial and the defendant received substantial media coverage. Post-verdict, a newscaster interviewed two jurors, reporting that "they both told me that most of the jury knew nothing about Baber's previous DUI arrests. . . ." R3-399. Since that statement establishes that some of the jurors had improperly learned of the defendant's prior DUI arrests, Baber sought a jury interview. It should have been granted. The remedy is to "remand . . . to the trial court to reconvene the jury to ascertain whether any juror had read the newspaper . . . or had conducted himself or herself improperly in any other respect regarding outside influences." <u>Diaz v. State</u>, 435 So. 2d 911, 912 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983).

For all the above reasons, the decision below should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE HOSPITAL BUSINESS RECORD -- A COMPUTER REPORT OF A MEDICAL BLOOD ALCOHOL TEST – SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN ADMITTED

A. STATE V. STRONG REQUIRED EXCLUSION OF THE MEDICAL BLOOD ALCOHOL REPORT

This Court held in <u>State v. Strong</u>, 504 So. 2d 758 (Fla. 1987), that test results of blood drawn only for medical purposes may be admitted in a criminal case "on establishing the traditional predicate for admissibility, including test reliability, the technician's qualifications, and the test result's meaning." <u>Id.</u> at 760. In this case, the State did not follow <u>Strong</u>; it successfully sought admission of the report of a test result under the business record exception used in <u>Love v. Garcia</u>, 634 So. 2d 158 (Fla. 1994), a civil case. The district court affirmed, distinguishing the criminal case traditional predicate decisions in <u>Strong</u>, <u>State v. Bender</u>, 382 So. 2d 697 (Fla. 1980), and <u>Robertson v. State</u>, 604 So. 2d 783 (Fla. 1992), because they "all predated <u>Love</u>." **Appendix A-**2.

By substituting <u>Love</u> for <u>Strong</u>, the court below has allowed the State to circumvent the well-established requirements for admitting medical blood alcohol evidence to prove an essential element of a crime. The State did not meet <u>Strong's</u>

traditional requirements, because the reliability of *this* blood test and the qualifications of the technician were not established as a predicate to admissibility. Because the stakes are so high in a criminal case, the business record exception should not be allowed to so easily trump <u>Strong</u> where the business record is the proof of the essential element of the offense. Although hospital personnel may rely on their records for important medical purposes, their decisions also consider other diagnostic tests, the patient's medical history, and physical examination of the patient. In a criminal case in which the hospital business record is crucial evidence to prove the essential element of the offense, <u>Strong</u>, more than Love, provides the protection required to assure a fair proceeding.

B. LOVE V. GARCIA SHOULD NOT BE APPLIED IN THIS CASE

The certified question of great public importance is:

Does <u>Love v. Garcia</u>, 634 So. 2d 158 (Fla. 1994), apply in criminal prosecutions where blood alcohol test results are offered as proof to establish an element of the offense, if the blood alcohol tests were administered by hospital personnel for medical treatment purposes?

<u>Baber v. State</u>, ____ So. 2d ____, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1478 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) (**Appendix A-3**) (footnote omitted). <u>Love v. Garcia</u>, a civil case, sought to resolve the "[c]onfusion [that] surrounds the issue of medical and hospital records and their

admissibility under the business record hearsay exception." 634 So. 2d at 159. The Court held that "[u]nder the business record exception, the trustworthiness of medical records is presumed," and they are admissible if a person with knowledge establishes that the record was part of the regular practice and kept in the ordinary course of business. <u>Id.</u> at 160. The Court explained the evidentiary choreography:

Once this predicate is laid, the burden is on the party opposing the introduction to prove the untrustworthiness of the records. If the opposing party is unable to carry this burden, then the record will be allowed into evidence as a business record.

Love, 634 So. 2d at 160.

We understand the inclination to apply <u>Love v. Garcia</u> to criminal cases. It is fair to presume that hospital records reporting the results of blood alcohol tests administered by hospital personnel for medical treatment are generally trustworthy. <u>Love</u> stated: "such trustworthiness is based on the test's general acceptance in the medical field and the fact that the test in question is relied upon in the scientific discipline involved." <u>Love</u>, 634 So. 2d at 160. Commentators concur: "[T]he safeguards of trustworthiness of records of the modern hospital are at least as substantial as the guarantees of reliability of records of business establishments generally." <u>McCormick on Evidence</u>, Practitioner Treatise Series, Vol. 2, p. 279 (John W. Strong, ed., 4th ed. 1992) (footnote omitted). <u>See also</u> Charles W. Ehrhardt, <u>Florida Evidence</u>, § 803.6a, pp. 704-705 (1999 ed.) (footnote

omitted):

Usually the results of routine laboratory tests administered by the hospital are admissible under section 90.803(6) as a part of the hospital's business records The admissibility is based on the hospital record's strong presumption of trustworthiness.

The court below recognized that the courts of other states have allowed medical blood alcohol test result reports to be admitted in criminal cases under the business record exception. **Appendix A-3** (citing cases) Those decisions are based on the same foundation that led to the presumption of trustworthiness in <u>Love</u>: "The reason underlying <u>Love</u> is that where medical professionals generally rely on the test results, courts too are permitted to rely on the medical records trustworthiness." <u>Brock v. State</u>, 676 So. 2d 991, 996 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) (allowing a defendant in a criminal case to introduce hospital reports under the business records hearsay exception).

Brock, following Love's lead, recognized the burden shifting that occurs once the proponent of the record lays the business record predicate for admissibility.

Quoting Love, the Brock court wrote:

Given the presumed trustworthiness of the medical records the state then had the burden to "prove the untrustworthiness of the records," such as by putting on laboratory technicians or experts to challenge the actual administration of the test. 634 So. 2d at 160.

Brock, 676 So. 2d at 996. The § 90.803(6)(a) opportunity to rebut the presumption of trustworthiness ameliorates the Confrontation Clause problem of admitting hearsay against a defendant by balancing the presumption of reliability with the opportunity to be heard to rebut the presumption. That balancing reflects the estimates of the probabilities: it is probable that business records kept in the ordinary course of business will be accurate, so the burden to rebut that presumption is placed "upon the party who contends that the more unusual event has occurred," i.e., that the business record is untrustworthy. McCormick on Evidence, *supra* p. 430.

Thus, once the State laid the business record predicate for admissibility, Baber had the burden to show that the business record, which purported to reflect the results of his blood test, was not trustworthy. There were three ways to carry that burden:

(1) re-test the blood sample; (2) inspect the instrument printout — the tape from the ACA-IV analyzer that showed the original test results; (3) question the technician to determine whether she properly performed the test and input the data into the hospital computer.

Baber could not do any of those things. No blood sample had been maintained, so there could not be a re-test. No instrument printout existed; the printout from the instrument had not been maintained, so the printout and the business record could not be compared. R1-229, 232; R7-610; R8-724-725; R10-997.

Baber had requested discovery of "Reports . . . including results of . . . scientific tests, experiments or comparisons" and "any tangible papers which the prosecuting attorney intends to use in the trial. . . ." R1-30. The instrument printout was not available, and Baber's counsel filed a Motion in Limine to Exclude Blood Test Results, because, *inter alia*:

The contents of the paper print-out in this case are unknown; the paper print-out has been lost.

* * *

No matter how accurate the DuPont machine may or may not be, its accuracy is a moot point if Ms. Dass did not accurately record the results. Here, it is anyone's guess what the actual machine reading was because the paper print-out reflecting that reading has not been preserved.

R1-229, 232. The State never denied that the instrument printout was not preserved. At trial, the defense expert testified that he could not find the instrument printout:

- A. [I] have not been able to find any other information other than that computer printout. I also verified it.
- Q. In other words, not the slip off the machine, just the hospital computer?
- A. No, just the hospital computer.

R10-980-981.3

It is undisputed that the business record that was introduced (Appendix B to this Brief) was not the instrument printout. The hospital's laboratory supervisor conceded that:

- Q. Now, that record is not the printout that comes from the machine that tests the blood, does it?
- A. Correct.

R7-610. Only that instrument printout could corroborate the validity of the data entry which created the business record. The laboratory supervisor admitted that the business record admitted at trial was not the original blood test result:

Q. The machine that tests the blood does have a

- Q. So you're what you are saying is you would assume, because there is a computer printout and no individual here to talk to, you would assume that it's probably right.

 That's what you are saying.
- A. Yes.

R8-727.

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