IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 96,010

JAMES C. BABER III,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENZIO

Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief, West Palm Beach Florida Bar No. 0656879

ROBERT R. WHEELER

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0796409 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Boulevard Suite 300 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (561) 688-7759

Counsel for Respondent

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

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

In <u>State v. Christian</u>, 895 P. 2d at 680, the chemist tested blood alcohol levels on a gas chromatograph and prepared a report from those test results. Although the report was not a direct print out from the machine and had been prepared by the chemist, there was no Confrontation Clause violation. <u>Id</u>. at 682-83. <u>See Brock v. State</u>, 676 So. 2d 991 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996)(hospital's "emergency record" from which the results of a laboratory blood test had been entered were presumed trustworthy and were subject to challenge as untrustworthy).

Petitioner contends that the hospital's failure to retain the original printout violated the Agency for Health Care Regulations,

Section 59A-7.028 requiring that these printouts be retained for at least two years (IB 18). He asserts that this failure makes the record "untrustworthy per se" (IB 19). As Petitioner concedes, this issue was not raised below, and cannot be brought before this Court for the first time on appeal. It is well-established that an appeal may not be taken from a judgment or order of a trial court unless a prejudicial error is alleged and is properly preserved, or if not properly preserved would constitute fundamental error. Florida Statute §924.051(3). An issue is properly preserved if the legal argument or objection to evidence was timely raised before, and ruled on by, the trial court, and was sufficiently precise that it fairly apprised the trial court of the relief sought and the grounds therefor. Florida Statute §924.051(1)(b). Petitioner's allegation of error in regard to these agency regulations was not timely raised before the court below and are not properly preserved for review by this Court.

If preserved, Petitioner misconstrues the regulation. It does not say that instrument printouts must be retained in order to assure accurate test results (IB 18). It states that a "record system" to identify patient specimens must be maintained in order to assure accurate results. Obviously, this "record system" requirement is to prevent one patient's specimen from being mixed

up with another. The segment of the regulation requiring that instrument printouts be retained is clearly not in conjunction with or for the purpose of assuring that accurate test results are reported.

Additionally, any violation of this regulation is irrelevant to any trustworthy analysis. The State has an interest in maintaining instrument printouts for the benefit of the patient, but this has no relation to the trustworthiness of a hospital business record created from that printout. The hospital record created from that printout is a business record in and of itself, subject to all the trustworthiness presumptions and attacks as any business record would be. To claim that an independent business record cannot be presumed trustworthy because the data from which it is composed is lost or destroyed is wrong. The independent business record is presumed trustworthy based on its own merits.

3. Unavailability of Technician Does Not Violate Confrontation Clause.

Petitioner's claim that the unavailability of, and resulting inability to question, the technician who performed Petitioner's blood test violates the Confrontation Clause is unfounded. The fact that the technician was not available to the State or Petitioner does not create a Confrontation Clause issue. The whole

reasoning behind the business records exception to hearsay is to admit into evidence records kept in the regular course of business through the testimony of the records custodian instead of requiring the technician who actually performed the blood test to testify. Florida law permits the testimony of a records custodian instead of the testimony of a technician who actually performed the blood test. See Brock v. State, supra.; Love v. Garcia, supra.

The fact that there is no need to question the technician who performed the blood test is the crux of the business records exception.

Defendant's articulated objection the that the failure to produce physician or technician who performed the test deprived him of the ability to cross-examine as to his qualifications and as to the nature and reliability of the particular test which utilized is an assertion which, recognized, would run counter to the entire rationale underlying the business records exception to the hearsay rule. This rule was designed to eliminate the necessity producing employees of an organization to establish а fact which experience has demonstrated to be trustworthy.

State v. Martorelli, 346 A. 2d at 621. Because there is an "indicia of reliability" of the information in the business record, there is no need to confront the technician. The proper foundation from the record custodian, which was provided in this case (T 590-92), is all that is needed to admit these records into evidence.

Petitioner contends that the technician's unavailability led to him not having an opportunity to question the reliability of her work (IB 20). However, Petitioner is not afforded this opportunity because the records are admitted under the business records hearsay exception. Under this exception, only the records custodian needs to lay the foundation for the admission of the records -- the technician does not have to be available or testify.

This high degree of reliability, as we explained early on, permits introduction of the test results contained in the hospital records presented in this case without any need for showing unavailability of the technician and without producing the technician. Under these circumstances, the constitutional right of confrontation is not offended.

State v. Garlick, 545 A. 2d at 35.

Petitioner claims that his ability to rebut the presumption of trustworthiness is meaningless without the opportunity to question the technician (IB 21). However, the law is clear that after the records are presumed trustworthy through the business record exception, the party opposing their admission has the "burden to prove the untrustworthiness of the records, such as by putting on the laboratory technicians or experts to challenge the actual administration of the test." Brock v. State, 676 So. 2d at 996 (emphasis added).

Once this predicate is laid, the burden is on the party opposing the introduction to prove the untrustworthiness of the records. If the opposing party is unable to carry this burden, then the record will be allowed into evidence as a business record.

Love v. Garcia, 634 So. 2d at 160.

It is not the State's burden to provide the witnesses for Petitioner. Although the exception may "guarantee" an opportunity to rebut (IB 21), it does not guarantee that the State must provide the witnesses to do this. The State fulfilled its legal obligations by providing Petitioner with the most specific location of the technician that it had. The State is required to do no more. It is Petitioner's burden to provide the technician's testimony or any other expert to rebut the presumption of trustworthiness. Certainly, Petitioner had the burden and the opportunity to rebut the presumption of trustworthiness, and there was no violation of the Confrontation Clause.

Petitioner cross-examined the records custodian, Rustin, as well as Calash, who headed the chemistry lab at the hospital. Rustin's cross-examination was sufficient to inquire into the trustworthiness of the record itself. The cross-examination of Calash was sufficient to inquire into the means and methods of testing and reporting the test results. Any meaningful information regarding the trustworthiness of the blood alcohol testing and the

reporting of the results was garnered from these two witnesses.

Any attempt to question the technician as to her workload that evening, delays, or distractions most likely would have been fruitless. Given the number of tests that the technician performs, any specific or independent recollection of this test would be extremely doubtful. See State v. Christian, 895 P. 2d at 683 (given great number of tests chemist performed, doubtful of recollection of specific test). The testimony of Rustin and Calash was sufficient for any attempt to challenge the trustworthiness of the test and the reporting of the results, therefore it satisfied any requirements under the Confrontation Clause.

4. Petitioner had Numerous Means of Rebutting the Trustworthy Presumption.

Petitioner claims that there were only three ways to carry the burden of proving that the blood alcohol record was not trustworthy: (1) re-test the blood sample; (2) inspect the instrument print-out; and (3) question the technician (IB 14). He contends that because he was foreclosed from employing any of these three means, this created an irrebuttable presumption of trustworthiness in violation of the Confrontation Clause (IB 21). This argument is without merit.

Petitioner had numerous other ways to challenge the

trustworthiness, and employed several of them as evidenced by Petitioner's arguments in his Initial Brief in the Fourth District Court of Appeal:

Here, the evidence showed the opposite; the flaws in the test were many: (1) it was not the generally accepted and utilized standard forensic alcohol analysis chromatography - but an alcohol dehydrogenase method; (2) it was not performed in duplicate, a standard safeguard for forensic tests; (3) it was not performed on whole blood, as required by Florida forensic labs, but rather with blood serum which yields a higher result; (4) no chain of custody of the specimen was established by record evidence or testimony; (5) neither the original test result tape from the DuPont ACA-IV nor the technician were available for examination by defense counsel; (6) the technician had an undisputed recent history of reporting an erroneous test result for a controlled substance; (7) the hospital procedures were not designed for forensic testing and indeed forbade forensic use of its own test results; and (8) DuPont itself does not recommend it ACA machine for forensic alcohol analysis.

Petitioner's Initial Brief in Fourth Dist. Ct. of Appeal, p. 14. Additionally, Petitioner rebutted the trustworthiness by attacking the quality control, maintenance, and accuracy of the blood testing machine (DuPont ACA), through the cross-examination of the State's witnesses Carroll and Calash.

Although Petitioner contends that he has only three means of rebutting the trustworthiness presumption of the blood alcohol test

(IB 14), Petitioner's own brief in the lower court clearly sets forth six other ways to carry that burden. Certainly, Petitioner cannot claim that he was foreclosed from asserting these other means of rebuttal when he alleges that there is evidence supporting them and asserts them in the court below.

Petitioner was never foreclosed from challenging the trustworthiness of the blood alcohol report and cannot claim a violation of the Confrontation Clause on these grounds. His opportunity to rebut the presumption was not "meaningless" or a "hollow promise" (IB 21) -- Petitioner had numerous means of rebuting the presumption of trustworthiness. Petitioner's claim of an "irrebuttable presumption" in violation of the Confrontation Clause is clearly dispelled by the fact that Petitioner, by his own admission, had numerous means of attacking the presumption of trustworthiness.

POINT 2

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE ADMISSION OF THE TECHNICIAN'S PERSONNEL RECORD.

"The trial court has broad discretion in determining the relevance of evidence and such a determination will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion." Heath v. State, 648 So. 2d 660, 664 (Fla. 1994); Hardwick v. State, 521 So. 2d 1071, 1073 (Fla. 1988). A trial court is given broad discretion when making a determination as to whether to admit evidence and that decision will not be overturned absent showing of an abuse of discretion.

Triana v. State, 657 So. 2d 1227 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995); Taylor v. State, 640 So. 2d 1127, 1133 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). A trial court has wide discretion concerning the admissibility of evidence, and a ruling on admissibility will not be disturbed unless there has been an abuse of discretion. Jent v. State, 408 So. 2d 1024, 1029 (Fla. 1981) cert. denied, 457 U.S. 1111, 102 S.Ct. 2916, 73 L.Ed.2d 1322 (1982).

The admission of evidence is within the sound judicial discretion of the trial judge, whose decision in such regard must be viewed in context of the entire trial. Forester v. Norman Roger Jewell & Brooks Intern., Inc., 610 So. 2d 1369 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). A trial court's ruling on a motion is presumed correct, and a reviewing court should interpret the evidence and reasonable

inferences and deductions drawn from the evidence in a manner most favorable to sustaining the trial court's ruling. Medina v. State, 466 So. 2d 1046 (Fla. 1985); Johnson v. State, 438 So. 2d 774, 776 (Fla. 1983). A reviewing court should not substitute its judgment for that of a trial court, but, rather, should defer to the trial court's authority as a factfinder. Perez v. State, 536 So. 2d 359, 360 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988).

It was well within the trial court's discretion to deny the admission of the technician's personnel record into evidence. Petitioner contends that the only way to test the credibility of the business record or the competency of the technician was to get the technician's personnel record into evidence (IB 24). At trial, Petitioner asserted that the personnel report of the technician would be relevant to impeach Mr. Carroll's testimony that he never heard of a mistake being made in the hospital laboratory (T 1010), and also to show the technician's professional level (T 1010-1011). The trial court determined that the personnel report was not relevant, because Mr. Carroll would not have heard of a mistake having taken place at the hospital, and that the personnel report did not address Mr. Carroll's comment (T 1011).

Further, the personnel record referred to an alleged mistake made during a drug test, and not a blood alcohol test. The tests

were not similar enough to establish proper impeachment evidence. The fact that the technician had made a mistake 2 1/2 months prior to the blood alcohol test that is at issue in the case at hand, was not relevant to show that the technician's results were untrustworthy (T 1633). This was clearly improper, and as such, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by not allowing the jury to hear such evidence.

Contrary to Petitioner's claim that there is "no other way to test the credibility of the business record or the competency of the technician" (IB 24), Petitioner attacked the technician's lab analysis in numerous ways. Petitioner attacked the method of the blood analysis, the accuracy and maintenance of the machine, and the hospital's procedures in creating the blood alcohol level report. Certainly, the court did not abuse its discretion by correctly concluding that Petitioner could attack the accuracy of the lab analysis without bringing forth the irrelevant personnel record of the technician.

Alternatively, even if the trial court erred in not allowing the jury to view the personnel record, Petitioner has failed to sufficiently establish prejudice. The trial court's error in admitting or rejecting evidence does not necessarily constitute harmful error, and only when it appears that such errors

injuriously affect substantial rights of the complaining party will the judgment be reversed. Forester v. Norman Roger Jewell & Brooks Intern., Inc., supra.

In a direct appeal or collateral proceeding, the party challenging the judgment or order of the trial court has the burden demonstrating that prejudicial а error occurred in the trial court. A conviction or sentence may not be reversed absent an express finding that a prejudicial error occurred in the trial court.

Florida Statute §924.051(7).

The focus of a harmless error analysis "is on the effect of the error on the trier-of fact." <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986). "The question is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the error affected the verdict." <u>Id</u>.

The test must be conscientiously applied and the reasoning of the court set forth for the guidance of all concerned and for the benefit of further appellate review. The test is not sufficiency-of-the-evidence, a correct result, a not clearly wrong, a substantial evidence, a probable than not, more а clear convincing, or even an overwhelming evidence Harmless error is not a device for the appellate court to substitute itself for the trier-of-fact by simply weighing the evidence.

Id.

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